# SUPREME COURT FILED

## In the Supreme Court of California

MAY 2 1 2015

Williams & Fickett,

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

Plaintiff and Appellant,

v.

County of Fresno,

Defendant and Respondent.

## Respondent's Opening Brief on the Merits

From the Opinion of the Court of Appeal, Fifth Appellate District (Case No. F068652)

Appeal from Order of the Superior Court, State of California, County of Fresno (Case No. 13CECG00461) Hon. Donald S. Black

> Daniel C. Cederborg Fresno County Counsel State Bar No. 124260

Peter Wall, Deputy State Bar No. 258677

2220 Tulare Street, Suite 500 Fresno, CA 93721-2128 Telephone: (559) 600-3479

### **Issues**

- 1. Is a taxpayer required to exhaust the remedy of applying to the county board of equalization if the issue does not involve valuation of property?
- 2. May a taxpayer who files an application for a changed assessment with a county board of equalization wait until longer than the period under Revenue and Taxation Code § 5097(a)(3), after the conclusion of that proceeding, before paying the property taxes and seeking a refund?

#### Introduction

Everything has limits, including the right to challenge property taxes. The legal issues in this case are about the strict procedural rules for taxpayers that dispute their property taxes. Those issues arise from a story of many long, unjustified delays by Appellant. But on a deeper level, this case is about keeping an orderly system of tax collection, to prevent needless uncertainty in the operations of local government. Appellant asks to be excused from the settled rule that requires taxpayers to exhaust administrative remedies, to disregard the time limits established by the Legislature, and to challenge taxes well over a decade old.

From 1997 to 2001, the County's Assessor ("Assessor")
assessed personal property to Appellant for tax years¹ 1994
through 2001, and the County charged property taxes to
Appellant based on those assessments. Appellant alleges that
some of the property assessed to it by the Assessor—certain farm
equipment—did not belong to it, or "did not exist as to it," on the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Tax years, like fiscal years, fall across two calendar years (e.g., 2015–2016), but are based on a lien date of January 1 in the first of those two years (e.g., January 1, 2015). (Rev. & Tax. Code, § 2192.) In this brief, tax years are identified by the year in which the lien date occurs.

relevant dates for those tax years. Because of that, Appellant says, the County charged it \$86,852 in property taxes that should not have been charged for those tax years.

Appellant failed to challenge those assessments with timely applications to the County's Assessment Appeals Board ("AAB"). Instead, for nearly a decade, from 1997 to 2006, Appellant slept on its rights. Only in 2007—a full decade after the first disputed assessment—did Appellant finally seek relief at the AAB.

Appellant waited even longer to pay the taxes—until 2011 and 2012, when the amount it owed had grown to \$353,078.77 because of delinquency penalties. Appellant now seeks a refund of that amount, based on refund claims that it filed in 2012, which were also untimely.

Today, the most recent disputed assessment was 14 years ago. The earliest one was 18 years ago. And if Appellant's allegations are true, the relevant events occurred more than 20 years ago.<sup>2</sup>

Appellant should not be excused for its failure to timely exhaust its administrative remedies. Its allegations that it did

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> 2 AA 185 (November 7, 2012 refund claim, page 4, footnote 3); pp. 28-29, below.

not own some of the property, or that the property "did not exist as to it," are just an attempt to plead around the exhaustion requirement and into the so-called "nullity" exception. The AAB could have decided the issues at stake here—all the way back in 1997.

Appellant also failed to pay the disputed taxes and seek a refund within the time allowed by Revenue and Taxation Code section 5097, subdivision (a)(3)(A)(ii). Appellant put its challenge of these taxes in motion when it filed applications with the AAB in 2007. But then it failed to follow through with a timely claim for refund.

This Court should reverse the Court of Appeal and affirm the Judgment of the Superior Court.

## Facts & Procedural History

#### 1. The 1997 Audit

In 1997, an Auditor-Appraiser from the Assessor's office audited Appellant's business records under Revenue and Taxation Code<sup>3</sup> section 469. (2 AA 208.) (That section requires

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> All further statutory references are to the Revenue and Taxation Code unless otherwise noted.

county assessors to conduct periodic audits of "taxpayers engaged in a profession, trade, or business who own, claim, possess, or control locally assessable trade fixtures and business tangible personal property in the county to encourage accurate and proper reporting of property."4) The audit resulted in escape assessments<sup>5</sup> on farm equipment, plus penalty assessments, charged to Appellant as assessee, for the 1994 through 1997 tax years. (2 AA 170–171, 209–214.)

The Assessor's office reported the results of that audit and gave notice of the proposed escape assessments by a November 12, 1997 letter to Appellant. (2 AA 208.) That letter cited sections 531.4 and 463 of the Revenue and Taxation Code, which provide for escape assessments and penalties for failing to file personal property statements, and for filing inaccurate statements. (2 AA 171, 208.) In the Audit Report enclosed with the letter, next to the words "Records Adequate for Audit," there is a check for "No," with the statement: "Insufficient information." (2 AA 209.)

<sup>4 § 469,</sup> subd. (a).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> "The phrase 'escape assessment' is simply tax jargon for putting property on the rolls not enrolled earlier." (*Cardinal Health 301, Inc.* v. *County of Orange* (2008) 167 Cal.App.4th 219, 223.)

"You have the right to appeal these assessments," the

November 12, 1997 letter said, "and may do so by filing an

application for reduction with the Clerk to the Board of

Supervisors no later than sixty (60) calendar days from the date

of this notice." (2 AA 208.)

Appellant did not file an application for reduction within 60 days after that letter. (2 AA 171.)

About 10 months later, on September 16, 1998, the County Auditor-Controller/Treasurer-Tax Collector ("Auditor") recorded Certificates of Delinquency of Personal Property Tax for the 1994–1997 escape assessments. (2 AA 171–172, 340, 344, 348, 352.) Recording those certificates caused the amount of tax and penalties stated in each certificate to become a lien on all of Appellant's real and personal property in Fresno County. (See, e.g., 2 AA 340, 325.)

For the tax years 1996 through 2001, the Assessor also enrolled regular personal property assessments, charged to Appellant as assessee, and the Auditor filed Certificates of Delinquency for those assessments, too. (2 AA 172, 356, 360, 364, 368, 372.)

Appellant now alleges that the 1997 escape assessments for tax years 1994 through 1997 and the regular assessments for tax years 1996 through 2001 resulted in \$86,852 in taxes that "should not have been assessed" because some of the farm equipment "was not owned by [Appellant] and therefore did not exist relative to [Appellant]." (2 AA 173.)

Appellant did not file timely applications with the AAB for any of the regular assessments in the 1996 through 2001 tax years. (2 AA 177.)

#### 2. The 2003 Audit

In 2003, another Auditor-Appraiser from the Assessor's office audited Appellant's personal property declaration for 2001 and found "an apparent overassessment" for that year. (2 AA 173, 220.) A September 23, 2003 letter from the Assessor's office to report the results of that audit said the overassessment information would be sent to the Auditor, to issue a refund. (2 AA 220.) The amount of that refund is not in the record.

On the first page of the Audit Report enclosed with the September 23, 2003 letter, next to the words "Records Adequate for Audit," the box for "No" was checked, with the explanation:

"[Taxpayer] does not keep formal accounting records." Further down the page: "Taxpayer did not have sufficient and/or competent records to review and evaluate." (2 AA 221.)

The narrative on the second page of the 2003 Audit Report continues: "Taxpayer does not have a formal accounting program. Mary Fickett keeps copies of invoices showing new purchases and trade ins. Taxpayer does file tax returns but had no depreciation schedule attached to any of the tax returns. . . . Used the prior audit list of assets and added the new additions to the list. . . . In my correspondence with taxpayer, it took several attempts to get information from taxpayer and at times even this information was incomplete or inadequate. Example[:] taxpayer had indicated and produced documentation that an asset had been sold but then declared this asset on the 2002 [Business Property Statement]." (2 AA 222.)

The Assessor, citing "Rule 193," declined to audit the previous three years (2000, 1999, and 1998), so there was only an "overassessment" for the 2001 tax year. (2 AA 173, 221, 225–226.)

Appellant alleges that was an "arbitrary decision" (2 AA 173), but

<sup>6 18</sup> C.C.R. § 193.

does not allege that it timely sought relief to compel the Assessor to audit the earlier years.<sup>7</sup>

#### 3. The 2006 Audit

By letter on February 28, 2006, the Assessor's office notified Appellant of another audit for the tax years 2002 through 2006. That audit resulted in relatively small escape assessments, offset by much larger overassessments. The letter stated that the overassessment information would be sent to the Auditor, to issue a refund. (2 AA 174, 334.) The amount of that refund is not in the record.

Unlike the two earlier audits, the record does not contain the Audit Report or work papers for the 2006 audit.

## 4. The 2006 Correspondence

A few months later, on July 10, 2006, Appellant's counsel at that time sent a letter to the Auditor, apparently in connection with an escrow demand by the County for unpaid personal property taxes. (2 AA 174, 328.) Appellant was refinancing real

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> See, e.g., Apple Computer, Inc. v. County of Santa Clara Assessment Appeals Board (2003) 105 Cal.App.4th 1355, 1366–1367 (decided January 31, 2003).

<sup>8 § 533.</sup> 

property that was encumbered by the liens for delinquent taxes, and the title company had asked for the County's payment demand to clear those liens. (2 AA 328.)

In the July 10 letter, Appellant asked the Auditor to reduce its escrow demand based on the overassessment finding in the 2006 audit, and raised another issue that it characterized as "significantly more complex." (2 AA 325.) Appellant alleged that, "[f]rom 1996 to the current date [July 10, 2006], Fresno County has erroneously assessed personal property taxes against [Appellant]." (2 AA 325.) Specifically, Appellant asserted that the Auditor-Appraiser in 2006 accepted "proof" that "a substantial portion" of Appellant's personal property "was seized as a result of their bankruptcy filings in 1997," but "prior auditors" had "rejected" that proof. (2 AA 325.) Appellant then asked the Auditor to cancel a portion of personal property taxes for all the tax years going back to 1996 as "erroneous or illegal" under section 4986, to apply reductions like those that were applied for tax years 2002 through 2005 after the 2006 audit, and to release the liens for 1996 due to Appellant's 1997 bankruptcy. (2 AA 174, 325–326.)

The Auditor made an "initial response" by letter on July 28, 2006, "so that your clients [Appellant] and you can determine whether [sufficient] proof can be provided to our satisfaction." (2 AA 174–175, 328.) After informing Appellant that the escrow demand would be revised to reflect reduced assessments for tax years 2001 through 2005, the Auditor explained that "the information presented thus far" was too general to support a cancellation of taxes for earlier years. (2 AA 328–329.)

In a footnote to the July 28, 2006 letter, the Auditor disputed the Appellant's contention, apparently presented separately from its July 10 letter, that it was not required to exhaust its remedies with the Assessment Appeals Board ("AAB"): "[W]e understand that the case cited [by Appellant] (Westinghouse Electric Corp. v. County of Los Angeles (1974) 42 Cal.App.3d 32) . . . state[s] that there must be undisputed facts and that one of certain specific grounds must be established (e.g., property is non-existent, or outside the jurisdiction). In this case, the Assessor and [Appellant] do not agree on the facts, and it is unclear whether your clients are claiming that the property meets the second part of that test." (2 AA 329.)

Appellant does not allege that it presented any additional information to the Auditor in support of its cancellation request.

#### 5. The 2007 Applications for Reduced Assessments

Almost a year later, on June 13, 2007, the Appellant filed nine applications to the AAB for reduced assessments, one for each of the regular assessments for tax years 1996 through 2000 (five applications), and one for each of the escape assessments for tax years 1994 through 1997 (four applications). (2 AA 175, 339–374.) Appellant alleged the value of its equipment for those tax years should be reduced because "the [Assessor's] auditor ignored the evidence and assessed the taxpayer for non-existent equipment. During the most recent audit, the same information was presented, and accepted, by the auditor who was unable to correct the taxes which were more than 4 years old." (2 AA 339–374; see, e.g., 2 AA 341.) The applications do not identify the "non-existent equipment" alleged to have been assessed.

A week later, on June 20, 2007, the Clerk to the

Assessment Appeals Board returned those applications with a

cover letter: "The enclosed Application(s) for Changed

Assessment that you filed are being returned for the following

reason(s): The Applications were not timely filed." The Clerk cited the November 12, 1997 letter reporting the results of the 1997 audit of Appellant's business records, as well as "Property Tax Rule 305.3(d)". (2 AA 175, 332.)

#### 6. The 2010 Declaratory Relief Action

More than three years after Appellant's applications to the AAB, on November 24, 2010, Appellant filed a complaint for declaratory relief against the County, the AAB, and the Assessor. (2 AA 175, 3 AA 392–395.) Appellant prayed for a judgment requiring the defendants in that action to "review" personal property taxes for tax years 1994 through 2000 and give "credits" for those years "pursuant to the 2006 audit." (3 AA 395.) That is, Appellant sought a determination that the Assessor should have applied the results of the 2006 audit to years before 2002. (3 AA 394.) (As noted above, the 2006 audit covered only the 2002 through 2006 tax years.)

The Superior Court sustained the County's demurrer in that action, without giving Appellant leave to amend, because

<sup>9 18</sup> C.C.R. § 305.3(d).

Appellant failed to comply with Article XIII, section 32, of the State Constitution, and Revenue and Taxation Code section 4807, both of which require taxpayers to pay the tax before litigating. (3 AA 399–400, 403–406; 2 AA 175.) That case is final, and not part of this one.

#### 7. Payment of the Disputed Taxes and Claims for Refund

By a series of checks over the period from May 12, 2011, to June 27, 2012, more than a decade after the taxes were assessed, Appellant paid a total of \$353,078.77 in personal property taxes and delinquency penalties for tax years 1994 through 2001. (2 AA 175.)

On May 30, 2012, and November 7, 2012, Appellant filed claims for refund. (2 AA 175–176.) The claims covered eight tax years—1994 through 2001—and were based on the results of the 1997 and 2003 audits. (2 AA 182–183.) The claims do not mention the 2006 audit. In its claims, Appellant requested a refund of \$333,078.71 for tax years 1994 through 2001. (2 AA 184.)

The Auditor rejected the claims in writing on November 27, 2012. (2 AA 176.)

#### 8. This Action

About two and a half months later, on February 13, 2013, Appellant commenced this action, based on its 2012 refund claims relating to tax years 1994 through 2001. (1 AA 1.) Its "Verified First Amended Complaint for Refund of Personal Property Taxes," filed on April 18, 2013, is the operative pleading. In that complaint, Appellant alleges that it is entitled to a refund of personal property taxes because certain farm equipment assessed by the County "was not owned by [Appellant on the relevant lien dates for tax years 1994 through 2001] and therefore did not exist relative to the [Appellant]." (2 AA 173.)

Appellant alleged that it "failed to file any application for reduced assessment for the assessments set forth herein within the time limits set forth in Revenue & Taxation Code Section 1603(b)," but that it did file a timely claim for tax refund under subdivision (a)(2) of section 5097. (2 AA 177.)

The Superior Court sustained the County's demurrer to that complaint, without leave to amend, ruling that Appellant failed to exhaust its administrative remedies because it failed to file timely applications to the AAB for reduced assessments. (3)

AA 443.) The court entered a judgment of dismissal in favor of the County. (3 AA 445–446.)

The Court of Appeal reversed. The court held that Appellant was not required to seek relief from the AAB because Appellant claims it does not own the property so the assessment is void. The court also held, based on its determination, which it did not clearly explain, that Appellant never filed applications with the AAB, that Appellant's refund claims were timely because they were made within four years after payment of the disputed taxes. (Opinion of the Fifth District Court of Appeal, F068652, filed Jan. 9, 2015 [previously published at 232 Cal.App.4th 1250] ("5th DCA Opn.").)

This Court granted review on April 22, 2015.

#### Standard of Review

Because this case arises from a judgment of dismissal on a sustained demurrer without leave to amend, the Court must assume the truth of Appellant's properly pleaded or implied allegations in its verified first amended complaint (2 AA 170ff), reading that complaint in context and giving it a reasonable

interpretation. (Schifando v. City of Los Angeles (2003) 31 Cal.4th 1074, 1081.)

Facts pleaded by Appellant include evidentiary facts in exhibits attached to its complaint. (Satten v. Webb (2002) 99

Cal.App.4th 365.) If allegations in the complaint conflict with the exhibits, the Court must "rely on and accept as true the contents of the exhibits." (SC Manufactured Homes, Inc. v. Liebert (2008)

162 Cal.App.4th 68, 83.) But if the exhibits are ambiguous and can be construed in a manner suggested by Appellant, the Court must accept Appellant's construction. (Ibid.)

The Court may also consider allegations in Appellant's initial verified complaint (1 AA 1ff) because Appellant "may not discard factual allegations of a prior complaint, or avoid them by contradictory averments, in a superseding, amended pleading." (People ex rel. Gallegos v. Pacific Lumber Co. (2008) 158 Cal.App.4th 950, 957.)

Because the trial court sustained the County's demurrer without leave to amend, the Court must decide whether there is a reasonable possibility that Appellant can cure the defect in its verified first amended complaint by further amendment.

(Schifando, supra, 31 Cal.4th at 1081.) Appellant has the burden of proving that an amendment could cure the defect. (Ibid.)

### Argument

1. Appellant was required to exhaust administrative remedies, but failed to do so, and cannot amend its pleadings to allege that it did, or that an exception applies.

The general rule in California is that a taxpayer seeking judicial relief from an erroneous assessment must exhaust its remedies before the administrative body empowered initially to correct the error. (Steinhart v. County of Los Angeles (2010) 47 Cal.4th 1298, 1308.) "A taxpayer who does not exhaust the remedy provided before an administrative board to secure the correct assessment of a tax, cannot thereafter be heard by a judicial tribunal to assert its invalidity." (Abelleira v. District Court of Appeal, Third District (1941) 17 Cal.2d 280, 294, quoting Gorham Manufacturing Company v. State Tax Commission (1924) 266 U.S. 265, 269–270.) Stated more generally, "where an administrative remedy is provided by statute, relief must be sought from the administrative body and this remedy exhausted before the courts will act." (Abelleira, supra, 17 Cal.2d at 292.

And see Plaza Hollister Ltd. Partnership v. County of San Benito (1999) 72 Cal.App.4th 1, 29 ("Plaza Hollister"), citing Abelleira.)

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