JUL 23 2015

No. S224476

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deput

#### IN THE

#### SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

WILLIAMS & FICKETT, a California General Partnership,

Plaintiff and Appellant,

VS.

#### COUNTY OF FRESNO,

Defendant and Respondent

After a Decision by the Court of Appeal of the State of California
Fifth Appellate District
Case No. F068652

Reversing a Judgment the Superior Court of the County of Fresno
The Hon. Donald S. Black
Case No. 13 CE CG 00461 DSB

#### APPELLANT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Ronald A. Henderson – No. 095116 Lynne Thaxter Brown – No. 104958 DOWLING AARON INCORPORATED 8080 N. Palm Avenue, Third Floor P.O. Box 28902 Fresno, Cali fornia 93729-8902

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

The County also urges the Court to require all taxpayers to exhaust administrative remedies because the Legislature gave local boards authority to hear "nonvaluation" issues in sections 1605.5 and 5142. (OMB 24-26.) However, as discussed above, both statutes are limited in application, and do not apply here. Neither statute, *nor any other*, requires all taxpayers to exhaust administrative remedies by filing an application for assessment reduction under subdivision (a) of section 1603, or eliminates the judicially created nullity exception for assessments that are erroneous, illegal and void.

The nullity exception has existed and been applied for more than 100 years. If the Legislature wanted to eliminate it, or require all taxpayers to exhaust administrative remedies, it knows how to do so.

### 4. Section 1605 (e) Does Not Eliminate the Nullity Exception

The County also argues that section 1605, subdivision (e) "empowered" the assessment appeals board to hear plaintiff's challenge because the assessment concerned business personal property that was subject to escape assessment. (OMB 26-27.) However, section 1605 only applies when a taxpayer is required to file an application for reduction in assessment pursuant to subdivision (a) of section 1603. A taxpayer, like plaintiff, who does not own or have a taxable connection to the business

personal property on which taxes are assessed is not required to file an application pursuant to section 1603(a).

There is nothing in the language of section 1605 that eliminates the nullity exception or requires this Court to adopt a new rule requiring all taxpayers to exhaust administrative remedies.

### 5. The Facts are Undisputed and the Nullity Exception Applies

Finally, the County contends recent cases have applied the nullity exception only when the facts are undisputed. (OMB 30-30-36.) Having discussed the development and application of the nullity exception above, we will not replow the same ground here. In any event, there is no dispute in this case that plaintiff was not the owner of the property. In a subsequent audit, the assessor determined that plaintiff had disposed of the nine pieces of farm equipment and did not own or possess the equipment for the tax years in question. (2 AA 173-174, 310, 323.)

The case fits squarely within the nullity exception based on nonownership this Court articulated in *Parr-Richmond Industrial Corp. v. Boyd*, *supra*, 43 Cal.2d 157, 165. The most fundamental aspect of property taxation is that whoever is required to pay the tax must possess a taxable connection to the property, i.e., own, claim, possess, or control it on the lien date. (Section 405.) An assessment against a taxpayer who has no such taxable connection to the property is void – a nullity – and the taxpayer is

not required to exhaust administrative remedies. (Parr-Richmond Industrial Corp. v. Boyd, supra, 43 Cal.2d 157, 165.)

## II. The Statute of Limitations to File a Claim for a Tax Refund Begins to Run Only After the Taxpayer Has Paid the Disputed Taxes

The County contends that plaintiff's filing in 2007 of applications to cancel the erroneous, illegal and void assessments triggered not only the statute of limitations on its refund claim, but also the limitations period for paying the taxes.

The County is wrong on both points.

#### A. There is No Statute of Limitations to Pay Property Taxes

The County relies on Section 32 of Article XIII of the California Constitution as the basis for a limitations period within which taxpayer must both pay the disputed tax and seek a refund. (OMB 42.) But there is no statute of limitations to pay a tax. The language of section 32 is clear that any time limitation to recover the tax paid cannot begin to run until after the tax is actually paid: "After payment of a tax claimed to be illegal, an action may be maintained to recover the tax paid [...]." (Italics added.) It is entirely possible, as in fact happened in this case, that a taxpayer who is erroneously and illegally assessed an exorbitant amount of taxes on property to which it has no taxable connection may have no ability to pay the tax then, or anytime soon. Indeed, it may take years for the

taxpayer to be able to raise the funds required to pay a tax it does not even owe.

The County confuses a claim by the government to collect an unpaid tax with a claim by a taxpayer to recover the tax paid. When a tax is unpaid, the government has considerable powers of collection against a taxpayer (i.e., a suit for taxes under section 3003), subject to various limitation periods for collection of such taxes. (See, e.g., Cal. Const., art. XIII, § 30 ["Every tax shall be conclusively presumed to have been paid after 30 years from the time it became a lien unless the property subject to the lien has been sold in the manner provided by the Legislature for the payment of the tax."].)

However, once the taxpayer pays the taxes, any claim for a tax refund is the taxpayer's responsibility. Section 5097 sets forth the applicable limitations period for claims for a refund of property taxes paid.

### B. Section 5097 Provides for Four Years After Payment to File a Claim for Refund

Section 5097 sets forth several alternative periods for filing a refund claim, only two of which are at issue in this case: a four-year filing period in subdivision (a)(2), which plaintiff contends applies, that runs from payment of taxes; and a one-year period in subdivision (a)(3)(A)(ii), which the County contends applies, if the taxpayer has filed an application for

reduction in assessment under section 1603(a). Section 5097 states, in pertinent part:

- (a) No order for a refund ... shall be made, except on a claim:
  - (1) Verified by the person who paid the tax....
  - (2) Except as provided in paragraph (3), filed within four years after making the payment sought to be refunded, or within one year after the mailing of notice as prescribed in Section 2635, or the period agreed to as provided in Section 532.1, or within 60 days of the date of the notice prescribed by subdivision (a) of Section 4836, whichever is later.
  - (3)(A) Filed within one year, if an application for a reduction in an assessment or an application for equalization of an assessment has been filed pursuant to Section 1603 and the applicant does not state in the application that the application is intended to constitute a claim for a refund, of either of the following events, whichever occurs first:
    - (i) After the county assessment appeals Board makes a final determination on the application for reduction in assessment ...
    - (ii) After the expiration of the time period specified in subdivision (c) of Section 1604 if the county assessment appeals Board fails to hear evidence and fails to make a final determination on the application for reduction in assessment or on the application for equalization of an escape assessment of the property. ...

The County contends the one-year period in subdivision (a)(3)(A)(ii) applies because plaintiff filed a form that is used for applications for assessment reduction with the assessment appeals board

in June 2007 and the board never heard evidence or made a final determination on the applications. (OB 46.) The board has two years to consider an application for assessment reduction, the expiration of which triggers the one-year limitation period. (Section 1604(c).) Thus, argues the County, plaintiff's refund claims were due in June 2010, and because plaintiff filed the claims in 2012, the refunds are time-barred.

This ignores the fact that plaintiff never paid the taxes until 2011 and 2012. (1AA2, 2AA 175.) Because there were no payments to create a refundable "fund," filing the claims in 2010 would have been a meaningless act. And the statute of limitations would have expired before plaintiff's claim for a refund even *accrued*. It is axiomatic that "statutes of limitation do not begin to run until a cause of action accrues." (*Fox v. Ethicon Endo-Surgery* (2005) 35 Cal.App.4th 797, 806.)

The County's assertion that the statute of limitations on a refund claim can expire while the tax remains unpaid is also without logical foundation under California tax law and the requirement of due process.

## C. The Limitations Period Under Section 5097 For Refund of Taxes Commences on the Making of the Payment Sought to be Refunded

The language of section 5097 is clear: "the limitation period commences upon 'the making of the payment sought to be refunded.' (Singer Co. v. County of Kings (1975) 46 Cal.App.3d 852, 869 [construing

former subdivision (b), renumbered as (a)(2)in 1978 by Stats 1978 ch 732 § 6.5].)

Section 5096 also establishes that payment of the taxes is a prerequisite to the running of the statute of limitations on seeking a refund: "Any taxes *paid* before or after delinquency shall be refunded ...." (Italics added.)

This is the well-established "pay first, litigate later" rule, under which a taxpayer must pay a tax before commencing a court action to challenge the collection of the tax. (State Board of Equalization v. Superior Court (1985) 39 Cal.3d 633, 638 ["the sole legal avenue for resolving tax disputes is a postpayment refund action"]; Water Replenishment Dist. of Southern California v. City of Cerritos (2013) 220 Cal.App.4th 1450, 1465 ["taxpayer may not go into court and obtain adjudication of the validity of a tax which is due but not yet paid"].)

Because a taxpayer must pay the tax prior to challenging it, the right to due process requires some procedure affording a meaningful opportunity for review after payment. (*Batt v. City and County of San Francisco* (2007) 155 Cal.App.4th 65, 72, disapproved on other grounds in *McWilliams v. City of Long Beach* (2013) 56 Cal.4th 613, 626.)

While states may have flexibility in fashioning the shortest possible time for a refund claim, a taxpayer must be given at least *some* period of time after paying taxes to contest the legality of the taxes by

seeking a refund. Application of subdivision (a)(3)(A)(ii), as urged by the County, would give plaintiff *no* time to contest the legality of the taxes after payment and would violate plaintiff's due process rights.

Accordingly, whatever the length of the limitations period may be for seeking a refund, it cannot begin *before* the date the taxes are actually paid.

The long refund period, about which the County complains, results from the "pay first-litigate later" tax system established by the California Constitution. The County had no problem asserting the "pay first" rule in the 2007 litigation when it argued, and the trial court agreed, that plaintiff had to pay the taxes before it could litigate the validity of the void assessments. (2AA 175; 3AA399.)

In any event, once the County was alerted to the fact that it assessed the wrong taxpayer, it had ample opportunity to protect its position by assessing the correct taxpayer within any applicable statute of limitations. Any detriment to "the public welfare" from the delayed collection of taxes, the failure to preserve evidence, or anything else the County fears, falls on the County.

## D. Subdivision (a)(3)(A) Does Not Shorten The "Four-Year After Making Payment" Limitations Period

The County asserts that subdivision (a)(3) of section 5097 is intended to modify all the refund limitations periods otherwise set out in

subdivision (a)(2). (OMB pp. 36-38.) The legislative history does not support this construction. The legislative history shows the alternative time periods in subdivision (a)(3)(A), subparts (i) and (ii), were not intended to apply to the four-year statute of limitations, or to alter it in any respect. (Exhibit D to MJN.)

As originally enacted and amended in 1967, section 5097 provided for filing refund claims within (1) four years after making the payment sought to be refunded, or (2) one year of mailing section 2635<sup>16</sup> notice, or (3) the period agreed to under section 532.1<sup>17</sup>, whichever is later. (Enacted 1939; amended Stats 1967 ch 746 § 2.)

Effective January 1, 2009, section 5097 was amended to add the alternative time periods in subdivision (a)(3) for filing a refund claim. (Stats 2008 ch 329 § 2 [AB 2411].) The legislative history shows this amendment was intended to address a loophole under which taxpayers could use the "one-year after notice" limitations period to circumvent the "four-year-after-payment" period.

In detailing the purpose of AB 2411, the relevant legislative history explained:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> Section 2635 requires the tax collector to send notice to a taxpayer when the tax paid exceeds the tax by \$10.00.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> Section 532.1 allows a taxpayer and the assessor to agree to an extension of time for making an assessment, correction, or claim for refund.

"The proponents of this bill state that, 'In a number of recent instances, where the four-year statute of limitations for property tax requests for refund/appeals has run, taxpayer appellants have taken to the practice of bringing mandate actions in Superior Court, requesting that a court direct a writ to the Tax Collector declaring an overpayment and ordering that the Tax Collector issue an overpayment notice to the aggrieved taxpayer pursuant to R&TC Section 2635. Because R&TC Section 5097(a) defines a timely claim as one filed within four years of the date of payment, or within one year of an overpayment notice, as long as the Tax Collector can be compelled to issue an overpayment notice by the courts, it is possible to thwart the four year statute of limitations.' The proponents also argue that R&TC Section 1635 was originally intended to provide a remedy for overpayment of taxes in the tax collection process, and not as a means to file a long dormant refund claim." (MJN 107 [Assem. Com. on Revenue and Taxation, Analysis of AB 2411 [2007-2008 Reg. Sess.] as introduced February 21, 2008, p. 2]; see also MJN 118-119.)

Thus, as originally introduced, AB 2411 proposed to amend subpart (a)(2) of section 5097 to delete the language, "or within one year after the mailing of notice as prescribed in Section 2635." (MJN 76-77.)

The California Taxpayers' Association, California Chamber of Commerce, and California Business Properties Association objected to the bill, complaining that it would limit taxpayers' rights for a refund to four years after making a property tax overpayment, without delivery of a notice of a right to refund as required by law. (MJN 114, 115, 116.) Committee staff also noted that section 2635 makes sending the notice mandatory, and eliminating the one-year period would render the notice useless. (MJN 107, 110.) Committee staff further noted that the Legislature

amended section 5097 in 1967 to include the very provision AB 2411 intended to eliminate. (*Ibid.*)

To address these concerns, the bill was amended to allow an exception to the *one-year after notice* period when a taxpayer files an application for a reduction in assessment or for equalization of assessment, and the taxpayer does not state that the application is intended to constitute a claim for refund. (MJN 80-81, 88, 94-96, 101, 107-108, 111.) Subdivision (a)(3)(A) was added to set forth the exception. (MJN 80-81, 88, 94-96, 101.)

Nothing in the legislative history of the amendments to section 5097 suggests the Legislature intended to alter or affect the *four-year* statute of limitations. To the contrary, the legislative history and amended and final versions of the bill confirm that the Legislature dealt only with the open-ended one-year statute of limitations.

## E. The One Year Limitations Period in Subdivision (a)(3)(A)(ii) Only Applies if a Taxpayer Files a Valid and Timely Application Pursuant to Section 1603

Furthermore, the one-year limitations period in subdivision (a)(3)(A) applies only "if an application for a reduction in an assessment ... has been filed pursuant to section 1603." The one-year limitations period therefore does not apply here because plaintiff did not file an application pursuant to section 1603. Plaintiff specifically stated in the attachments that the forms were filed under *section 4986*, based on non-

ownership of the disputed property. (2AA 175, 339-374.) Section 4986

governs cancellation of unpaid taxes, not reduction in assessment, and is

statutorily directed to the auditor, not to the assessment appeals board.

Moreover, assuming for the sake of argument that the

applications plaintiff filed in June 2007 were sufficient in form, they were

untimely. The County summarily rejected the filings for that very reason.

(2AA 175, 132; OB13.) Therefore, the two-year period of section 1604(c)

for the board to hear evidence and make a final determination never ran,

much less expired, so the one-year period in subsection (ii) does not apply.

**CONCLUSION**

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